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\rhe first grist mill on this site was apparently built directly on
Bidding Creek, some yards from the present mill location south and east
of the stream., Creek waters, controlled by upstream dam and water gate,
powered the water wheel direetly. This simple mill was in ruins when
Dr. Nieholas Bitting, a Methodist preacher, came to the region sometime
after 1876. (By official act of the Cherokee National Council Dr. Bitting,
his wife, their children, and his wife's brother, Daniel J. Nichols, were
all admitted to the rights of Cherokee citizenship, to take effect when
they permanently located inside the Nation.)

‘Dr. Bitting was the first to use the springs. He constructed a
millpond & hundred yards or so southeast.of the present mill site, dug a '
millrace to the relocated mill, powered by a large, over-shot wooden
wheel. He operated ist mill, with white granite buhrs cut in
France, from aro 188 the mid-1890s, part of the time at its full
capacity of 200 bushels a day.™ The official 1890 census for the Going
Snake District of the Cherokee Netion lists his wife, "Mary Jane, 41,
can read and write," and describes the property as "2 dwellings, 4 other
struotures, 1 farm, 56 acres enclosed, 43 acres in cultivation." Value
of the improvements is given as §500.00. The mill was not included for -
it rates a separate entrys "1 grist mill velued at §$1,000.00 . . "

Je C. Worley took over the mill abou€\1908 and operated it for 20
years., His prineipal improvement for replacement of the wooden wheel
with an all steel one, 20 feet in diameter, whiech is still in uasf‘ It
is said to have cost $2,600.00. Worley's son and grandson operated the
mill intermittently until 1945,

Mrs. Linn (Golda) Unkefer bought the property in 1950 and it has
been known as Golda's Mill since that time. She has improved the faeility
considerably, while retaining its rustic appearance., Electric power is
used for cleaning and drying the grain now, but water power and the origi-
ral buhrs are used exclusively for the grinding itself. Mrs. Unkefer
has added a small sales room and offers visitors a eonducted tour for a
nominal charge. The main building housing the mill proper measures 24 x
45 feet., Two smaller lean-to additions provide extra working spece. The
half-acre millpond is southeast of the house and the millrace traces a
path between the house and the north (or creek) side of the mill where the

"wheel is located.

The site itself is well nigh idyllic, a flat, grassy area walled on
the north and west by heavily wooded Bidding Creek and gently sloping
woods to the south and east.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Historic "facts" are hard to ecome by concerning the earliest use
of what are now known asg Bitting Springs to grind meal. Or of the
waters of "Bidding" Creek into whieh the springs drain. (Dr. Nicholas
Bitting settled here sometime after 1876. The logical eorruption of
Bitting to Bidding was officially incorporated into the name of the
nearby stream and -= from Oect. 19, 1912, to June 15, 1928 ~- of the
post office serving the ecommunity.) Legend has it that meal was ground
here in the late 1830s or early 1840s. Somewhat more substantial is
evidence of the existenee shortly after the Civil War of a crude grist-
mill powered by a water wheel turned directly by the water of the creek
itself and eontrolled by a simple dam and water gate.

According to the recollections of Mrs. Catharine Murray, daughter
of Dr. Bitting, this mill was owned by her aunt, Mary Taylor. But it
had disappeared or was in ruins when her aunt died and her mother in-
herited the property. She was 12 or 13 at the time. She knows that it
was her father who first used the springs to develop the mill pretty
much as it is today. He constructed the millpond, dug the race that
now runs between the house and the mill, installed a big wooden wheel to
power the grinding buhrs. He began operating the mill in 1882 or 1883
and was so busy for a time, she recalls, that she and her brother some-
times relieved him at the end of a day and ground meal throughout the
night. The Bittings ran the mill until sometime in the 1890s.

(On one occasion, Mrse Murray recalls, her father heard that the
Cherokees back in the hills were starving. He gent word for them to
ocome for free meal, glving it away at first by the bushel. Only when
8o many needy came that he was afreid he might run out did he reduce the
portion to a bucketful per Indian. « . .Dr. Bitting was a Methodist
preacher. According to the 1890 Goingsnake Distriet census, he had a
wife, Mary Jane, and six ohildren. Catharine, who married R. W. Murray
in 1888, was not included.)

Next operator of the Bitting Springs Mill was the Worley family.
Je Cs Worley was in oharge from about 1908 to 1928. It was he who
replaced the old wooden wheel with the all-metal one now in use. (The
cost was said to have been $2,600.) Son Luther and Ord lse, a grandson,
followed him. They kept the machinery intact but did considerable
Febuilding of the mill itgelf. Then in 1945 they, too, shut it down.
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Noe. 8. B8ignificance

Golda's Mill

Mrs. Linn (Golda) Unkefer found the mill in 1950 and, after months of
restoration work, re-opened it for wholesale produetion of stone-ground

meal, by then enjoying econsiderable popularity as a health food.

By 1961

she wag averaging produstion of 200 bushels of grain a day and her water=-
milled meal was going into every state of the union and nine foreign mar-
kets. \Produotion continues today, though on a somewhat reduced scale. \\
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